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Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Summary

The Company

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (“AOF” or the “Company”) is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment
company traded on the AIM market of the London Stock Exchange. Its net asset value on December 31, 2009 was
US$31.4 million and its market capitalization was US$24.3 million.

Investing objective

The investing objective of the Company and its subsidiaries is to achieve consistent capital growth and income through
investments in value, arbitrage, and special situations opportunities derived from the continent of Africa. AOF may invest
in securities issued by companies domiciled outside Africa which conduct significant business activities within Africa or,
if listed, listed either on an African stock exchange or a non-African stock exchange. AOF may invest in equity, quasi-
equity or debt instruments, debt issued by African sovereign states and government entities, and real estate interests.

The Directors and the Manager believe that the diversity and volatility of African economies present opportunities to earn
attractive returns when investments are made selectively, across asset classes, and without pre-determined benchmarks
or allocations.

By balancing the size and type of investment, the Directors and the Manager believe that attractive returns may be made
across asset classes. Whilst the African capital markets can be volatile, by ensuring diversity of investment across industries
and countries, the Investment Manager attempts to mitigate such risks.

AOF targets industries rather than countries to exploit valuation discrepancies which can arise among African countries.
The Directors and the Manager believe also that Africa’s status as a continent containing a large number of reforming
countries provides investment opportunities in those countries.

Summary of Investment Strategy

AOF’s investment strategy is summarised as follows:

Material discounts to intrinsic value. AOF invests primarily where and when an investment can be made at a material
discount to the Manager’s estimate of intrinsic value.

Company preference. AOF prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an earnings yield
higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.

Industry focus rather than country focus. AOF seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard to national
borders.

Natural resource discounts. AOF seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a discount to the spot
and future world market prices for those natural resources.

“Turnaround” countries. The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround” countries.
“Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private sector participation.

Balkanized investment landscape. AOF seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers across the
continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.
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Point of entry. AOF seeks the most favourable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether through
financing a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.

AOF generally will not control or seek to control or be actively involved in the management of any company or business
in which it invests.

Investment Policies and Restrictions

The Manager adheres to the following policies and restrictions:

Geographical focus. AOF makes investments in companies or assets with a material portion of their value derived from
or located in Africa. The geographic mix of investments varies over time depending on the relative attractiveness of
opportunities among countries and regions.

Type of investment. AOF may invest in real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or debt instruments, which may or may
not represent shareholding or management control, and debt issued by African sovereign states and government entities.
Investments may be made directly or through special purpose vehicles, joint venture, nominee or trust structures. AOF
may utilise derivative instruments to hedge certain market or currency risks and may from time to time engage in the
short sale of securities.

Investment size. At the time of investment, no single investment may exceed 15 per cent. of the Net Asset Value without
the prior approval of the Board. No one initial investment will exceed 20 per cent. of the Net Asset Value at the time
of investment.

Number of investments. AOF has, and expects to maintain, a concentrated portfolio of approximately 10 to 20 core
investments, excluding money market investments.

Borrowing. AOF may use overdraft and other short-term borrowing facilities to satisfy short-term working capital
needs, including to meet any expenses or fees payable by AOF. Subject to limitations and notification requirements, the
Board has approved borrowing for investment purposes.

Cash management. Cash will be placed in bank deposits, investment grade commercial paper, government and corporate
bonds and treasury bills, in each case, of US and African issuers.

Distribution policy

The Directors will determine the Company’s dividend policy. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the
purpose, the Company is currently intending to pay an aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of
Net Asset Value on 1 January in each year multiplied by the one year US Dollar LIBOR rate (as derived from Bloomberg)
on the same date, which amount will be payable in four equal quarterly instalments in March, June, September and
December of that year.
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Chairman’s Statement

2009 Review

2009 was a good year for both world markets and the Africa Opportunity Fund Ltd (“the Fund” or “AOF”). AOF’s
audited net asset value rose from $0.52 per share in January to $0.74 per share on 31 December 2009. Including
dividends, the total NAV return was a gain of 48%.

The shares of AOF had an even better year, appreciating 109% and dramatizing the impact of a narrowing NAV discount
upon returns. It is gratifying to report a significant recovery in the NAV and share price of AOF.

To provide some basis for comparison, in African markets, South Africa rose 64%, Nigeria fell 38%, Kenya fell 3%, and
Egypt rose 35%. In non-African emerging markets, China rose 80%, Brazil rose 145%, Russia rose 117%, and India rose
89%. In developed markets, Japan rose 16%, the US rose 23%, and the UK rose 22%.1

A key reward in 2009 was the return provided by AOF’s fixed income investments. At the end of the year 63% of the
portfolio was in cash and bonds, which had contributed approximately 38 of the 48 percentage points of the NAV return.
Our Marine Subsea holding, for example, appreciated over 120% from its year end valuation of 22% of par while paying
a 6% coupon. Our Katanga Resources notes appreciated 83% from 50% of par while paying a 14% coupon. Two
investments acquired during the year also turned in pleasing results. Our Old Mutual preferred securities provided a
blended return of 100% while also paying a healthy coupon, and our PA Resources 2nd lien notes appreciated 41% from
our initial purchase price while paying a 10% coupon. In short, AOF enjoyed significant benefits from holding different
asset classes and investing in fixed income securities.

The equity portfolio added approximately 11 of the 48 percentage points of the NAV return. Admittedly, this was a
muted performance compared to many world markets. But the companies in which AOF is invested made significant
operational progress during the year, and hold attractive return prospects as we invest the cash generated by the bond
portfolio. A key lesson from 2009, in this regard, is that Africa has long been a capital starved region of the world, and
its leading companies have franchises that are typically not dependent upon regular access to financial markets. Sonatel,
our largest holding, grew subscribers by 27% in 2009 while maintaining an ebitda margin of nearly 58%. It is valued at
8X earnings and pays a 10% dividend yield. Similarly, African Bank Investments, a lender to the emerging middle class
in South Africa, experienced no significant difficulty financing its business. Despite a slowdown in consumer activity, it
grew earnings 19% while earning a 6% return on assets and a 15% return on equity. These examples serve to dramatize
the point that for several companies in Africa, the gyrations of world financial markets have only a distant impact on its
underlying operating business.

Outlook

Investors throughout the world were reminded in 2008 that investing involves risk. Use of the term “new normal” is
growing commonplace in the financial press to describe the recognition of this fact. But the sentiment is hardly new. In
the 1973 edition of the Intelligent Investor, Ben Graham made virtually the same point while commenting upon the
impact that the market’s 1969-70 decline had upon the notion that stocks would always advance to new high levels. He
writes “At long last the stock market has ‘returned to normal’, in the sense that…investors must again be prepared to
experience significant and perhaps protracted falls as well as rises in the value of their holdings”.2

1 Reference Indexes are calculated in US dollars using: Nigeria NSE Index, South Africa Allshare, Nairobi NSE Index, Egypt Hermes Index, Russia
MICEX Index, Brazil IBOV Index, the Shanghai composite index, the India SENSEX Index, the S&P 500, the FTSE 100, and the Nikkei 225.

2 Benjamin Graham, The Intelligent Investor, Revised Edition w/ commentary by Jason Zweig, (New York: Collins Business, 2006), p. 5.
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Although nothing is new about the “new normal”, a number of concerns today will give pause to careful investors.
Key amongst them in our view are imbalances in the world’s debt position and trade patterns. Africa is accustomed
to fiscal imbalances and currency depreciations, but the world as a whole is not. For our purposes, we remain focused
on identifying goods and services which consumers demand regardless of political conditions. During the post WWII
era there were many imbalances in European economies, but some of the highest growth rates in the 20th century were
also recorded.

Similarly, Africa today shines as a growing continent. An educated middle class is emerging in numerous countries which
experienced decades of infrastructure stagnation and underinvestment. African markets offer value that is difficult to find
on other continents. Single digit PE multiples and double digit ROEs are common. So too are double digit dividend
yields. To investors in Africa, fiscal imbalances and currency depreciations are part of the standard equation. Care and
caution are certainly required, but businesses can still flourish in the midst of such imbalances. We make no forecast about
the general direction of markets, and never will. But we are both excited about the attractive opportunities available to us
today and optimistic about AOF’s prospects.

In closing we would like to thank our shareholders again for their support and partnership during 2009. We look forward
to a successful 2010.

Robert C. Knapp
Chairman
June 2010



The Fund’s perennial quest for undervalued securities took it deep into the terrain of the debt markets in 2009. Its
end-of-year holdings gave it financial exposure to Angola, Botswana, Cote d’Ivoire, the Republic of Congo, the
Democratic Republic of the Congo, Malawi, Namibia, Nigeria, Tanzania, Tunisia, Senegal, South Africa, Zambia, and
Zimbabwe. It had $16.2 million invested in debt securities, $14.6 million in equity securities, $3.3 million in cash; and
derivative and short sale liabilities equal to $2.8 million. By the end of the year, the Company’s debt portfolio was valued
at a 25% discount to its par value, had a current yield of 11%, and a yield to maturity of 14%. Its equity portfolio traded
on a dividend yield of 7% and the overall portfolio’s free cash yield was 8%.

2009 was a year of two themes for the Fund. The first theme, absorbing considerable time during the first half of the year,
was the Fund’s tender offer to its exiting shareholders. We did not commence making significant new investments for the
continuing pool of the Fund until the middle of May, as the first theme reached its end. The second theme, animating
the second half of 2009, was one of reconstruction. The second theme propelled the Fund in the second half of last year.
It was, and remains, to recover the losses endured by the Fund in 2008 while improving the financial quality of the
investments of the Fund. That theme implied that the Fund’s portfolio of new investments had to combine minimal risk
of loss with a material prospect of an internal rate of return exceeding 20%. 2009 ended with the Fund obtaining a total
return of 48%.

Two of the Fund’s positions were sold to corporate acquirers during 2009. Addax Petroleum was acquired by China’s
Sinopec for CAD $52.8 per share in August, after having closed 2008 at less than $20. AOF sold its Addax convertible
bond position into the market and tendered its shares to Sinopec, earning an overall return of nearly 100% on its
investment. In addition, AOF sold its holding in Moto Goldmines to Randgold Resources and Anglogold Ashanti in
September for a gain of 200%. Moto is an emerging gold mining company with its principal asset in the Congo.
Randgold’s acquisition took place after an initial bid from Red Back Mining. AOF was delighted to see a competitive
bidding situation emerge so soon after the collapse of markets in 2008.

The Fund’s most lucrative investments of 2009 were made in the arena of fixed income securities. In increasing the Fund’s
exposure in that arena, we sought equity-like returns. In essence, excluding money market investments, in a world in
which even US government debt at the prices prevailing in the last 12 months has been characterized as “return free risk”,
we think of a bond, whether corporate or government, as an independent business unit.3 Bonds have the additional
advantage, over equity securities, of having superior asset coverage because they have a claim on an issuer’s assets that ranks
ahead of equity. A bond purchased at a discount to par is often cheaper than the underlying equity of that issuer because
that discounted bond has that issuer’s classes of equity securities serving as a cushion. Consequently, bonds trading below
par tend to appeal to us as an avenue to acquire assets at a discount.

A good example is our investment in Old Mutual subordinated bonds. Old Mutual is the holding company of the largest
private financial services institution in South Africa. Its subsidiaries also provide financial services in Kenya, Malawi,
Namibia, Swaziland, and Zimbabwe. It is a member of the FTSE 100 and is also listed on the Johannesburg, Malawi,
Namibia, and Zimbabwe stock exchanges. It is “investment grade” with a Moody’s rating of Baa3, a Fitch rating of BBB-,
and an AM Best rating of BBB+. Most of its operating profits since 2007 have been earned in Africa.

6 AOF Annual Report
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Manager’s Report

3 Our approach to investing in bonds is somewhat famously described by Warren Buffet in Berkshire Hathaway’s 1984 Annual Report. He writes: “As
you know, we buy marketable stock…based upon the criteria we would apply in the purchase of an entire business. …We extend this business-
valuation approach even to bond purchases such as WPSS (Washington Public Power Supply System). We compare the $139 million cost of our
yearend investment in WPSS to a similar $139 million investment in an operating business. In the case of WPSS, the “business” contractually earns
$22.7 million after tax (via the interest paid on the bonds), and those earnings are available to us currently in cash. Only a relatively few businesses
earn the 16.3% after tax on unleveraged capital that our WPSS investment does and those businesses, when available for purchase, sell at large
premiums to that capital. In the average negotiated business transaction, unleveraged corporate earnings of $22.7 million after-tax (equivalent to about
$45 million pre-tax) might command a price of $250-$300 million (or sometimes far more). For a business we understand well and strongly like, we
will gladly pay that much. But it is double the price we paid to realize the same earnings from WPSS bonds.”
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In May 2009, AOF began purchasing the €5% perpetual callable securities (“Euro perpetuals”) and £ 6.376% perpetual
callable securities (“Pound perpetuals” and, together with the Euro perpetuals referred to as the “Perpetuals”) issued by
Old Mutual PLC (“Old Mutual”), each at a price of 31. By the end of July, we had invested €810,210 and £712,830 in
those two instruments. Listed on the London Stock Exchange, both securities are subordinated unsecured notes of
indefinite duration. They rank ahead of only preference and ordinary shares. Coupon payments are not cumulative. Old
Mutual may elect to defer a coupon payment; but, it may not declare dividends on its preference and ordinary shares so
long as it is not making coupon payments on the Perpetuals. In sum, the Perpetuals are the economic equivalent of equity,
hence their status as Tier 2 upper capital for Old Mutual.

In the case of the Fund’s holdings, at its average purchase prices, the running yields for the Euro perpetuals and the Pound
perpetuals were, respectively, 14% and 16%. Those running yields exceed substantially Old Mutual’s 2009 average on
equity of -1.46%, its 2008 average return on equity of 4.6% and the returns on equity of many European insurance
companies. The Fund’s decision in purchasing the Perpetuals to generate double digit running yields was the logical
equivalent of a decision to invest in an insurance business earning double digit after tax returns on equity, a rare
opportunity in an industry which generated single digit returns on equity in 2008 and 2009. Why were the Perpetuals
trading at such steep discounts to par? Because the credit crunch and market crisis of 2008 hit fixed income securities
much more severely than equities. To be sure, that was a temporary irrational pricing discrepancy.

Old Mutual’s ordinary shares have appreciated 122% to March 30, 2010, without the benefit of a dividend, since the
Fund’s initial purchase of the Perpetuals. Simultaneously, the Euro perpetuals have appreciated 156% and the Pound
perpetuals have appreciated 149%. Yet, the Fund’s initial purchase price of 31% of par implied that there was a 100%
probability of default by Old Mutual with the holders of Perpetuals recovering only 1/3rd of par. In that eventuality, Old
Mutual’s ordinary shares should have been worthless, instead of commanding a value of £3.73 billion. Yet, even stringent
modifications to Old Mutual’s embedded value calculations to provide some sense of its liquidation value confirmed that
the Perpetuals were worth par. Thus, an investment in the Perpetuals was much safer than Old Mutual’s ordinary shares.
An additional benefit of the Perpetuals was that, unlike Old Mutual’s ordinary shares, they were not subject to dilution
risk. The market was afraid that Old Mutual would have to issue shares to strengthen its balance sheet. In our view, that
dilution risk vitiated any possible margin of safety in holding Old Mutual equity in an uncertain period. In sum, the
Perpetuals were valued at 1/3rd of their liquidation value, constituted a bargain compared to the ordinary shares, provided
a higher double digit return on invested capital than the ordinary shares, retained some of the upside of those ordinary
shares, without a credible threat of earnings dilution, yet distributed all their earnings in cold hard cash.

The approach of valuing a bond as an independent business unit also explains the allure of the PA Resources bonds. We
use the 10% 2nd lien 6/20/11 bonds as an illustration. PA Resources AB (“PA”) is a Swedish oil exploration and
production company listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange that is one of the largest oil producers in Tunisia. Despite its
Swedish address, 100% of PA’s 78.9 million barrels of proved and probable reserves are located in Tunisia and the Republic
of Congo. It has a 100% interest in the Didon oil field in Tunisia, a 35% working interest in the Azurite oil field operated
by Murphy Oil Corporation, a 6% working interest in the Aseng field of Equatorial Guinea operated by Noble Energy
Inc., and exploration licenses in the United Kingdom, the North Sea area. Based on the 2009 BP Energy Report, PA’s
daily production from the Didon field accounted for 12% of Tunisia’s 2008 daily production. PA’s 2nd lien bonds rank
behind the bonds issued by a subsidiary of PA called Didon Tunisia Pty Ltd (we also own some of the Didon Tunisia
bonds). However, we considered them to be structurally superior to the Didon Tunisia bonds because they mature in 2011
whereas the Didon Tunisia bonds mature in 2012. At the 70% of par we paid for our initial purchase of the 2nd lien
bonds, we earned an annual yield of 14.3% although PA’s return on equity in 2009 was 0.3%. To provide some
comparative perspective, Murphy Oil had a return on common equity of 12% in 2009 and had an earnings yield (the
reciprocal of the P/E ratio) of 5.5%. Another way of viewing our purchases of PA bonds is to think of the amount we
paid for the underlying reserves. We estimate that, at our initial purchase prices, we paid $3 per barrel of PA reserves,
which was 6% of the $50 per barrel of oil that the market was then paying for the reserves of Tullow Oil PLC (“Tullow”).
Clearly, the 2nd lien bonds were purchased at a substantial discount to their intrinsic value.
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Manager’s Report (cont’d)

Where AOF can find securities trading at a premium to intrinsic value, we will similarly seek to generate returns by selling
that security short. The short seller, by borrowing a security and selling it in the market at that premium valuation, can
later repurchase that security at a lower price approximating the short seller’s estimate of intrinsic value for a profit. There
are other benefits from short sales insofar as they are a source of funds and permit an investor to hedge some risks. The
Fund’s prime brokerage relationship with Newedge permitted it to engage in the short sale of ordinary shares of Tullow
last year.

Tullow is one of the most successful oil exploration and production companies of recent times. It has grown over ten years
from a small junior explorer to a major global player. Management is superb and its success in Ghana is exemplary. Yet,
despite our admiration for Tullow and its management, we concluded that it was substantially overvalued. It was priced
for indefinite exploration and production success. So, AOF initiated a short position in Tullow shares. In fact, the proceeds
from our short sales funded some of our long positions in the PA Resources bonds. By the end of 2009, an investor that
bought Tullow shares was paying over $50 per reserve barrel, which contrasts sharply with the $3 per reserve barrel that
the Fund paid for its PA Resources bonds. It is obvious that enthusiasm for Tullow is driven by the huge exploration
upside of its discoveries in Ghana and Uganda. Thus, an investor was paying $22 per resource barrel for Tullow while
paying $4 per resource barrel for its partner, Anadarko (note the distinction between “reserve” and “resource”, though it
makes little difference to the overall argument). Our short position constituted our 6th largest holding by the end of the
year. As happens with long positions, it takes a while for the market to either confirm or confute one’s judgment. By the
end of 2009, the Fund had lost approximately 20% on its short position. But, the market revalued Tullow at the beginning
of 2010 and AOF reduced its position.

Meanwhile, the Tullow short position allowed the Fund to invest a larger amount of capital in the oil and gas industry
than it would have otherwise. Besides the PA Resources bonds, 7% of the Fund’s portfolio was invested in warrants issued
by the Central Bank of Nigeria, with a guarantee from its Federal Government, that pay a coupon linked to the crude oil
price. The 2009 purchases of those warrants by the Fund were made for a 30% cash yield. The Fund also has indirect
exposure to oil prices because it has a long position in a natural rubber plantation, Societe Africaine de Plantations
d’Heveas. The price of natural rubber is tightly correlated to crude oil prices because a substitute for natural rubber is
synthetic rubber, which is a petroleum based product. As a result, the Tullow position also served as a hedging tool on a
wider portfolio basis.

The Fund’s portfolio experienced some losses in its long positions. The bonds of Diamondcorp PLC declined from 65%
of par at the beginning of 2009 to 30% of par on December 31, 2009. Diamondcorp PLC’s sole operating asset, the Lace
diamond mine in South Africa, was put under care and maintenance. The 10% Sphynx 28/01/11 notes, evidencing
Ivorian government bonds, fell from 60% of par to 40% of par, as the Cote d’Ivoire government defaulted on its
obligations.

The remainder of this report comprises commentary on two of AOF’s largest equity investments and a restatement of the
Manager’s investment philosophy.

Sonatel. This Senegalese integrated telephone operator listed on the Bourse Regionale de Valeurs Mobiliers is AOF’s
largest investment. Its subscribers grew by 27% in 2009 to 9.2 million. Sonatel has operations in Senegal, Mali,
Guinea, and Guinea-Bissau. It has 100% of Senegal’s fixed line market, 90% of Senegal’s internet market, 67% of
Senegal’s mobile telephony market, 80% of Mali’s telephony market, 25% of Guinea’s mobile telephony market,
and 25% of the mobile telephony market in Guinea-Bissau. At 33% for the 2009 financial year, Sonatel’s net
margin is the second highest in Africa. In addition, Sonatel has the highest operating cash flow per telephone
subscriber in Africa of $91, the lowest debt to equity ratio in the telecoms industry of 30%, a debt to total assets
ratio of 19%; and a return on average equity of 34%. Yet, as of March 30 2010, with an enterprise value around
$2.7 billion and a market capitalization of $2.9 billion, Sonatel has the second lowest African telephone operator
valuation with a PE ratio of 10X and an enterprise value per subscriber of $295.
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African Bank Investment Limited. African Bank Investments Limited (“ABIL”) is the largest consumer finance
company in South Africa and Africa. It is the holding company for African Bank (“African Bank”), a bank, and
Ellerines Brothers, a furniture retailing company. Its subsidiaries grant unsecured loans to individuals, loans secured
by furniture to individuals, and sells furniture. Its customers are members of the emerging middle class and its
average loan size is 7,000 Rands (or $700). Furniture sales by Ellerines was anaemic, in part because of the recession
in South Africa, but also because ABIL has been restructuring that business unit. It appears that Ellerines sales are
beginning to recover. African Bank’s 1,639 branches constitute the largest financial branch network in South Africa.
Unlike the four major commercial South African banks, it has no exposure to the mortgage market. Its funding
strategy is rare. It funds itself long term to make loans of shorter duration. As of the end of September 2009, its
ratio of tangible shareholders equity to tangible assets was 23%. African Bank’s tier 1 capital adequacy ratio is nearly
20%. That high capital ratio permits African Bank to incur high non-performing loans and bad debts in its market.
African Bank has strong liquidity ratios, with maturing liabilities at any one time being half of maturing assets.
ABIL’s return on average assets declined from 7.6% in 2008 to 5.8% in 2009 and its return on average equity
declined from 21% to 15%. But, its return on average tangible equity was 28%. African Bank had a market
capitalization on March 30 of 29.4 billion Rands. It traded on a PE ratio of 16.2 and a Price/Book ratio of 2.4 and
a Price/Tangible Book of 4.4.

Once again, we end with a restatement of our investing philosophy. The key elements of the investment strategy for AOF are:

Material discounts to intrinsic value: AOF invests primarily where and when an investment can be made at a
material discount to the Manager’s estimate intrinsic value.

Company preference: AOF prefers companies which demonstrate both high real returns on assets and an earnings
yield higher than the yield to maturity of local currency denominated government debt.

Industry focus rather than country focus: AOF seeks to invest in industries it finds attractive with little regard to
national borders.

National resource discounts: AOF seeks natural resource companies whose market valuations reflect a discount to
the spot and future world market prices for those natural resources.

“Turnaround” countries: The African continent is home to a large number of reforming or “turnaround” countries.
“Turnaround” countries combine secular political reform with the opening of industries to private sector participation.

Balkanized investment landscape: AOF seeks to invest in companies with low valuations in relation to peers across
the continent and uses an arbitrage approach to provide attractive investment returns.

Point of entry: AOF seeks the most favorable risk adjusted point of entry into a capital structure, whether through
financing a new company or acquiring the debt or listed equity of an established company.

Africa offers several attractive investment opportunities. Valuations in some African industries that rely on credit remain
low because of the withdrawal of credit in the last few years. The markets of some countries have still to recover, in
US Dollar terms, from the 50%+ depreciation of their currencies against the US Dollar in 2009. We remain interested in
industries which have products in short supply in Africa that rely more on the domestic African economy than the global
economy. We are hunting in those terrains for compelling equity investments. We shall continue to build a portfolio that
delivers both capital growth and income to the shareholders of AOF.

Francis Daniels
Africa Opportunity Partners
June 2010
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Portfolio review
(1% of portfolio or greater)
As at December 31, 2009

Issuer Market Value % of NAV
US$

Sonatel 4,199,539 13.38
African Bank Investments 2,987,058 9.52
Marine Subsea Cypros 12/19 – Series I 2,852,892 9.09
PA Resources 03/13/12 2,314,000 7.37
PA Resources 06/20/11 2,274,125 7.25
Nigerian Oil Warrants 2,240,000 7.14
Old Mutual 6.376% 03/29/49 1,943,509 6.19
Old Mutual 5.0% 11/29/49 1,858,958 5.92
Gold Fields Inc 1,493,751 4.76
Cote d’Ivoire Government 1,275,396 4.06
Polo Resources 957,008 3.05
Shoprite PLC 857,678 2.73
Press Corporation Ltd. 822,500 2.62
Unilever CI 754,185 2.40
SAPH 694,317 2.21
Marine Subsea Cypros 12/19 – Series II 569,468 1.81
DiamondCorp PLC 560,059 1.78
Zimplats Holdings 471,411 1.50
Copperbelt Energy Corp. PLC 436,889 1.39
Katanga Mining 345,380 1.10
Tullow Oil PLC (2,317,940) (7.39)
SPDR S&P Metals & Mining ETF (390,960) (1.25)
Cash 3,673,348 11.71

Geography
Cash
11%

South Africa
28%

Senegal
13%Nigeria

7%

Ivory Coast
9%

Republic of 
Congo

7%

Angola
11%

Tunisia 
7%

Other
7%

Assets

Cash
11%

Debt
52%

 Listed Equity
 37%



AOF Annual Report 11

SONATEL
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
Symbol: SNTS BC
Shares outstanding: 10,000,000
Market capitalization: 1.35 trillion CFA Francs 
Website: www.sonatel.sn
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$6,442,050
Value of AOF’s holding: US$4,199,539
Principal activity: Fixed line and mobile telephony services in Senegal, Mali, and neighboring countries.

AFRICAN BANK INVESTMENTS LTD
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa
Symbol: ABL SJ
Shares outstanding: 804,175,000
Market capitalization: 25,210.89 million South African Rand
Website: www.abil.co.za
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$2,176,377
Value of AOF’s holding: US$2,987,058
Principal activity: South African consumer finance and microlending company. 

MARINE SUBSEA CYPROS LTD 12/19 Series I
Instrument: Secured Fixed Rate Note
Currency of bonds: US Dollars
Coupon: US Dollar 9% Fixed
Maturity: 12/19/2019
Website: www.marinesubsea.no
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$4,962,658
Value of AOF’s holding: US$2,852,892
Principal activity: Subsea well intervention services and construction support to the offshore West African oil

and gas industry, primarily in Angola. 

TULLOW OIL PLC
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: London Stock Exchange, UK
Symbol: TLW LN
Shares outstanding: 886.8 million
Market capitalization: 9,825.8 million GBP
Website: www.tullowoil.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: (US$1,696,137)
Value of AOF’s holding: (US$2,317,940)
Principal activity: Oil and gas exploration and production company with a focus on West Africa and Uganda.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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PA RESOURCES FRN Didon 3/13/12
Instrument: Floating Rate Bond 
Currency: United States Dollar
Maturity: 3/13/2012
Website: www.paresources.se
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$1,881,000
Value of AOF’s holding: US$2,314,000
Principal activity: Floating rate bond with first lien on Didon oil field in Tunisia.

PA RESOURCES 10% 6/20/11
Instrument: Fixed Rate Bond 
Coupon: 10.00%
Currency: United States Dollar
Maturity: 6/20/2011
Website: www.paresources.se
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$1,825,000
Value of AOF’s holding: US$2,274,125
Principal activity: Bond financing Azurite Republic of Congo field with second lien on Didon Tunisia field.

NIGERIAN OIL WARRANTS
Instrument: Payment Adjustment Warrants issued by Central Bank of Nigerian and guaranteed by the

Government of Nigeria
Currency of notes: US Dollars
Maturity: 2020
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$2,265,500
Value of AOF’s holding: US$2,240,000
Principal activity: Warrants pay US$15 twice yearly subject to certain pricing and production levels.

OLD MUTUAL 6.376% 03/29/49
Instrument: Fixed Rate Bond 
Coupon: 6.376%
Currency: Great British Pounds
Maturity: 3/29/2049
Website: www.oldmutual.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$1,159,401
Value of AOF’s holding: US$1,943,509
Principal activity: Largest African life insurance company, with operations across the continent in addition

to Europe and the United States.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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OLD MUTUAL 5.0% 11/29/49
Instrument: Fixed Rate Bond 
Coupon: 5.00%
Currency: Euro
Maturity: 11/29/2049
Website: www.oldmutual.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$1,139,275
Value of AOF’s holding: US$1,858,958
Principal activity: Largest African life insurance company, with operations across the continent in addition

to Europe and the United States.

GOLD FIELDS LTD
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: New York Stock Exchange, New York, United States
Symbol: GFI US
Shares outstanding: 705,734,000
Market capitalization: 9,774.42 million United States Dollars
Website: www.goldfields.co.za
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$1,187,592
Value of AOF’s holding: US$1,493,751
Principal activity: Fourth largest world gold producer, mining primarily in South Africa. 

COTE D’IVOIRE GOVERNMENT
Instrument: Fixed Rate Sphynx Capital Markets debt instrument collateralized by Cote d’Ivoire

Government bond
Coupon: 10.00%
Currency: CFA Franc payable in Euro
Maturity: 1/28/2011
Websites: www.tresor.gov.ci; www.bceao.int
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$3,013,288
Value of AOF’s holding: US$1,275,396

POLO RESOURCES LTD
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: London Stock Exchange, UK
Symbol: POL LN
Shares outstanding: 2,3476.6 million
Market capitalization: 93.279 million GBP
Website: www.poloresources.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$988,590
Value of AOF’s holding: US$957,008
Principal activity: Holding company with uranium interest in Namibia, South Africa, and Botswana.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Portfolio review
(2% of portfolio or greater)
as at 31 December 2009 (cont’d)
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SHOPRITE PLC
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: JSE Securities Exchange, Johannesburg, South Africa / Lusaka Stock Exchange, Zambia 
Symbol: SHP SJ / SHP ZL
Shares outstanding: 543,479,000
Market capitalization: 13.3 trillion Zambian Kwacha
Website: www.shopriteholdings.co.za
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$887,520
Value of AOF’s holding: US$857,678
Principal activity: Investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in the supermarket, produce

distribution, furniture retailing and property holding industries.

PRESS CORPORATION LTD
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: Malawi Stock Exchange, Malawi
Symbol: PCL
Shares outstanding: 120,255,820
Market capitalization: 19.6017 Malawi Kwacha
Website: www.presscorp.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$650,000
Value of AOF’s holding: US$822,500
Principal activity: Investment holding company with subsidiaries operating in natural resource related

industries.

UNILEVER-COTE D’IVOIRE 
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: Bourse Regionale de Valeurs Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
Symbol: UNLC BC
Shares outstanding: 1,611,000
Market capitalization: 116.8 billion CFA Francs
Website: www.unilever.com
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$865,775
Value of AOF’s holding: US$754,185
Principal activity: Producer of household and industrial oils, margarine, soaps and detergents.

SAPH (Societe Africaine de Plantations d’Heveas)
Instrument: Ordinary Shares
Listing: Bourse Regionale de Valuers Mobiliers, Cote d’Ivoire
Symbol: SPHC BC
Shares outstanding: 5,112,000
Market capitalization: 85.4 billion CFA Francs 
Website: www.saph.ci
Cost of AOF’s holding: US$2,081,806
Value of AOF’s holding: US$694,317
Principal activity: Ivory Coast rubber plantation operator and latex processor.

14 AOF Annual Report
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Introduction

Investment in Africa contains elements of risk. The qualitative risk disclosures section describes how the Company
manages the risk of loss of capital of the Group. Loss of capital may arise from market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, or
operational risk. Market risk comprises the possibility of loss of capital arising from movements in interest rates, equity
prices, or currencies against the US Dollar, the reporting currency of the Group. Credit risk, in turn, is the possibility of
loss of capital of the Group arising from a failure of the issuer of a debt instrument to repay the principal or interest of
that instrument in accordance with its contractual terms. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, even if it has adequate
capital resources, does not have enough financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due or can secure them at a
high cost. Operational risk is the possibility of the Group suffering from inadequate or failed internal processes, people,
systems or external events.

Market risk

African capital markets have suffered from high inflation, extreme depreciations (or appreciation) of African currencies
against the US Dollar, the effects of huge changes in the gross domestic product of a country because of that country’s
dependence on the export of one or two commodities, adverse weather conditions, severe power outages, unpredictable
regulatory frameworks and political disasters. It is difficult for the Company to design systems to protect itself against
such potential calamities. But, caution, judgment, experience and knowledge of the political economies of the different
African countries can mitigate the susceptibility of the Group to those dangers.

Where possible the Company does seek to limit its market risk. However, the menu of options are limited, as foreign
exchange controls, double digit nominal interest rates, small and illiquid stock markets, prohibitions on foreign
participation in local government debt markets, and the illegal nature of short selling characterize several African
economies. Consequently, the Company invests where possible in a variety of investment instruments and currencies
spread across the continent, and focuses upon nominal high yielding debt instruments, preferably with a real inflation-
adjusted return, and undervalued equities.

Although the Company seeks to create a concentrated investment portfolio, it has limits on the degree of concentration
of the portfolio as part of its market risk management strategy. At the time of an investment, no single investment may
exceed 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of the Board. The Group may not make
an initial investment which will exceed 20 percent of the Company’s net asset value at the time of investment.

Assuming that the balance sheet on December 31, 2009 were to remain constant and no actions were taken to alter the
existing interest rate, equity price, or currency sensitivity: a hypothetical 1% increase in interest rates would have reduced
the Company’s net assets by 3.03%; a hypothetical 30% decrease in equity prices would have reduced the Company’s net
assets by 10.89%: a hypothetical 30% decrease in the value of all non reporting currencies against the US Dollar would
have reduced the Company’s net assets by 14.91%. 

Credit risk

The Company aims to minimize its credit risk. The Company, through the Manager, seeks to manage credit risk by
ensuring that no single investment exceeds 15 percent of the net asset value of the Group without the prior approval of
the Board. In addition, the manager seeks to extend credit to either credit worthy issuers or issuers issuing instruments
supported by adequate collateral.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company
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Liquidity risk

The Company considers its current liquidity risk to be modest because it has sufficient financial resources to meet any
obligations and has not incurred any debt.

Operational risk

The Company seeks to limit the operational risks of the Group by dispersing oversight and control of its assets among
different institutions with a contractual duty to check each other. The records of the Company are maintained by an
administrator independent of the Manager, each director of the Manager, and each director of the Company. The assets
of the Group are entrusted to custodians which are independent of the Manager and the Company’s administrator.
Instructions to the custodian must be in writing and signed by a representative of the administrator and a representative
of the Manager. The administrator prepares written instructions for the disbursement of funds only after the submission
of actual invoices, in the case of expenses, by service providers to the Company or trade instructions in the case of
investments. Authorized trade instructions implemented by the administrator and the custodian lead to either the receipt
of securities by a custodian or the receipt of cash by a custodian when the Group sells a security. The custodian has backup
plans, offsite places to ensure an ability to conduct operations in the event of a disaster.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Qualitative risk disclosures for the Company (cont’d)
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Directors’ details

Robert C. Knapp-Chairman (43 years) (Non-independent, non-executive Chairman).
Mr. Knapp is the Managing Director of Ironsides Partners LLC, a firm he founded in 2007. Ironsides manages assets for
institutional investors, including Ironsides Partners Opportunity Fund and Millennium Partners LP, his former employer
from 1996-2006. Mr. Knapp is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the investment manager of AOF. He is also the
lead independent director of MVC Capital, Inc., an investment company listed on the New York Stock Exchange and
Pacific Alliance Asia Opportunity Fund, a closed-end fund listed on the London Stock Exchange. Mr. Knapp specializes
in closed end fund arbitrage, distressed debt, and emerging markets. He holds a BSc degree in engineering from Princeton
University and a BA degree in Philosophy, Politics, and Economics from Oxford University.

Francis Daniels (51 years) (Non-independent, non-executive director).
Mr. Daniels is a director of Africa Opportunity Partners, the investment manager of AOF. Mr. Daniels has more than
10 years of investing experience in Africa. He is a member of the board of directors of TA Holdings Ltd., a Zimbabwean
stock-exchange listed company. Mr. Daniels is an attorney admitted to practice in the State of New York. He holds a
LL.B degree from the University of Ghana, a LL.M degree from the University of Toronto, a LL.M degree and a
LL.M (Corporations) degree from New York University Law School.

Christopher John Agar (49 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Agar joined Laxey Partners Limited in 2007, specialising in global closed end funds. He has more than 25 years
experience in closed end funds having joined de Zoete and Bevan Limited in 1981 (later to become BZW Limited). He
specialized in research and sales of investment trusts and moved to UBS Limited in 1993. Mr. Agar held various positions
at UBS Limited: Executive Director of Closed End Funds, Head of Sales, Research and IT. He is a director of Active
Capital Trust PLC and a partner in Spring Farm Partnership, a farming and livestock company.

Myma Adwowa Belo-Osagie (56 years) (Non-executive director).
Dr. Belo-Osagie is a member of the New York, Ghana and Nigeria Bars and is a member of the American Bar Association.
She is a practicing barrister and the Managing Partner in Udo, Udoma & Belo-Osagie, a leading Nigerian corporate law
firm. Dr. Belo-Osagie graduated from the University of Ghana with a LL.B degree. She obtained a LL.M degree and a
SJD degree from Harvard Law School.

Christopher Marcus Gradel (39 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Gradel is the Chief Investment Officer, Founder and Managing Partner of Pacific Alliance Group, one of the largest
alternative investment managers in Asia. Pacific Alliance Group manages funds covering Private Equity; Hedge Fund and
Distressed; and Real Estate. Mr. Gradel has over 14 years of investment experience across Asia. Prior to founding Pacific
Alliance, Mr. Gradel led several investments for the Marmon Group in China and was an engagement manager for
McKinsey & Co. based in Hong Kong. Mr. Gradel has a joint Masters in Engineering, Economics and Management from
Oxford University.

Shingayi Stanley Mutasa (51 years) (Non-executive director).
Mr. Mutasa is the executive chairman of TA Holdings, a Zimbabwean stock-exchange listed company. TA Holdings is a
holding company with insurance, insurance brokerage, hotels, and fertilizer operations. Mr. Mutasa graduated from the
University of London with a BA degree in Economics.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Directors’ details
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment company.
A review of the business of the Company is set forth in the Manager’s Report.

Results and dividend

The after tax gain for the period was US$10.2million. The results of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009
are set forth on page 21. Subject to having sufficient cash resources available for the purpose, AOF intends to pay an
aggregate annual dividend of an amount equal to the product of its net asset value on January 1 in each year multiplied
by the three month US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as derived from Bloomberg) on that date, which amount
will be payable in four equal quarterly instalments in March, June, September and December of that year. During 2009
AOF paid an aggregate dividend of $443,355 at a rate of $0.0026 per quarter or $0.0104 annually.

Status

The Company was incorporated with limited liability on June 21, 2007 and is registered in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company, under registration number MC-188243. As a closed-ended investment company, the Company is not
regulated as a mutual fund in the Cayman Islands and is not otherwise subject to regulatory review in its place of
incorporation. However, the Company is subject to the AIM Rules for Companies as published by the London Stock
Exchange from time to time.

Subsidiary companies and affiliates

The Company is the ultimate holding company of Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited, a company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on June 22, 2007 under registration number MC-189739, and is the principal limited partner of the
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P., an exempted limited partnership registered in the Cayman Islands on June 25, 2007 under
registration number MC-20466 (“the Limited Partnership”).

Share interests

Save as set out below, pursuant to notices delivered to us by such persons, the Directors are not aware of any person,
directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, interested in ten percent or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Name Number of Shares Percentage
The Tudor BVI 
Global Portfolio L.P. 13,750,229 32.25%
Advance Frontier Markets
Fund Limited 8,584,212 20.14%

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Report of the Directors
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Directors

The present members of the board of directors are listed on page 17.

The interests (all beneficial) of the current Directors and their connected persons in the ordinary shares of the Company
on December 31, 2009 are set out below:

Name Number of Ordinary Shares

Robert Knapp 8,213,000
Francis Daniels 2,112,827
Christopher Gradel 250,000
Christopher Agar 100,000
Myma Belo-Osagie 100,000

There have been no changes to the interests disclosed above between the year end and the date of this report.

The Manager

Africa Opportunity Partners Ltd. is the Company’s manager. It has been engaged under the terms of a management
agreement (the “Management Agreement”), effective from 18 July 2007. Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels (the
“Executive Team”) are directors of the Manager and are beneficially interested in the Manager. The Management
Agreement is terminable by either party on a minimum of one year’s notice expiring on or at any time after the fourth
anniversary of the effective date of the Management Agreement.

The Manager is entitled to a management fee equal to 1⁄4 of 2 percent of the quarterly net asset value of the Company
payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance. In addition, through their beneficial interests in AOF CarryCo Ltd., one of
the limited partners of the Limited Partnership, the Executive Team is entitled to an annual aggregate carried interest from
the Limited Partnership equivalent to 20 percent of the excess of the net asset value (as at December 31 in each year) over
the sum of (i) the annual management fee for that year and (ii) a non-compounding hurdle amount equal to the net asset
value as at 31 December in the previous year, as increased by the one year US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (as
derived from Bloomberg) calculated on that date. The carried interest is subject to a “catch up” and a “high watermark”
requirement. Details of fees paid and payable can be found in note 14 in the Notes to the Accounts on page 46.

Corporate Governance

There is no applicable regime of corporate governance to which directors of a Cayman Island company must adhere over
and above the general fiduciary duties and duties of care, diligence and skill imposed on such directors under Cayman
Island law. However, the directors recognize the value of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in June 2006 and will take appropriate measures to ensure that the Company complies, as
far as is practicable and to the extent appropriate given the Company’s assets, liabilities and other relevant information.

Since all Directors are non-executive, the principles of the Combined Code in respect of executive directors’ remuneration
are not applicable and, accordingly, the Board of Directors of the Company has not appointed a remuneration committee
as it is satisfied that any relevant issues can be properly considered by the Board as a whole.

However, the Company has established a Management Engagement Committee which meets formally at least on an
annual basis to consider the performance and the remuneration of the Manager. The Management Engagement
Committee comprises all the members of the Board other than Robert Knapp and Francis Daniels. Christopher Agar is
the chairman of this committee.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Report of the Directors (cont’d)
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The Company has also established an Audit Committee which comprises all the members of the Board other than Robert
Knapp and Francis Daniels. Chris Gradel has been appointed the chairman of the audit committee. The Audit Committee
meets at least three times in each twelve month period.

The Management Agreement sets out the matters over which the Manager has authority and the limits above which Board
approval must be sought.

The Board meets at least four times a year and receives full details of the Company’s assets, liabilities, and other relevant
information in advance of meetings. Directors may seek independent professional advice on any matter that concerns
them, at the expense of the Company, in furtherance of their duties.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group’s financial statements in accordance with
applicable Cayman Islands law and regulations. Cayman Island company law requires the Directors to prepare Group
financial statements for each financial year. Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, the Group is required to prepare
group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have elected to
prepare the Group financial statements on that basis.

The financial statements are required by law and IFRS to present fairly the financial position of the Group and the
financial performance and cash-flows of the Group for the relevant period.

In preparing the Group financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
• Make judgments and estimates which are reasonable and prudent;
• State whether the financial statements have been prepared in compliance with IFRS, subject to any material

departures disclosed and explained therein;
• Present information, including accounting policies, in a manner which provides relevant, reliable, comparable,

and understandable information;
• Provide additional disclosures where compliance with the specific requirements of IFRS are considered to be

insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, events and conditions on the
financial position and performance; 

• Prepare financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group or
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for maintaining proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any
time the financial position of the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with IFRS and
all applicable company law. The Directors also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably available
to them, and for ensuring their third party service providers take similar reasonable steps, to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent or detect fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ Confirmation

The Directors listed on page 17, being the persons responsible within the Company, hereby confirm to the best of their
knowledge:

• That the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards and
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company; and 

• The Chairman’s Statement and Manager’s Report collectively comprise the Management Report and includes a
fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company.
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Report on the financial statements

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) on pages 26 to 59 which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2009 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the period then ended and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements on pages 26 to 59 give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2009, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

ERNST & YOUNG LI KUNE LAN POOKIM, A.C.A, F.C.C.A.
Signing Partner

Ebène
Mauritius

Date: 8 June 2010

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Independent Auditors’ report to the members
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Note 2009 2008
USD USD

Income
Interest revenue 6 1,520,674 6,150,183
Dividend revenue 1,407,439 1,606,923
Net gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 7(c) 6,852,439 -
Other income 12 1,517,681 139,595
Realised exchange gain 25,771 -

11,324,004 7,896,701

Expenses
Management fee 5 540,759 2,010,654
Custodian, secretarial and administration fees 181,206 549,410
Brokerage fees and commissions 181,477 485,588
Audit fees 56,670 52,500
Directors’ fees 82,144 120,000
Other operating expenses 81,136 129,362
Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7(c) - 53,856,788
Realised exchange loss - 679,503

1,123,392 57,883,805

Profit/(loss) for the year 10,200,612 (49,987,104)
Other comprehensive income - -

Total comprehensive income 10,200,612 (49,987,104)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 10,021,265 (49,658,231)
Non-controlling interest 179,347 (328,873)

10,200,612 (49,987,104)

Basic earning/(loss) per share attributable to the equity holders of
the Fund during the year 13 0.2351 (0.4056)

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2009

 



Notes 2009 2008
USD USD

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,673,348 2,671,415
Other receivables 8 719,065 1,294,247
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7(a) 30,792,960 57,140,459

Total assets 35,185,373 61,106,121

LIABILITIES

Other payables 11 835,861 1,616,607
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 7(b) 2,771,400 -

Total liabilities 3,607,261 1,616,607

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 
Share capital 10 426,303 1,155,100
Share premium 39,319,756 107,741,068
Retained losses (8,366,966) (49,824,259)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 31,379,093 59,071,909
Non-controlling interest 199,019 417,605

Total equity 31,578,112 59,489,514

Total equity and liabilities 35,185,373 61,106,121

Approved by the Board on 8 June 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Director Director

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2009
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Non-
Issued Share Retained controlling Total
capital premium losses Total interest equity
USD USD USD USD USD USD

At 1 January 2008 1,250,000 119,489,981 (166,028) 120,573,953 746,478 121,320,431

Share buy back (94,900) (6,262,650) - (6,357,550) - (6,357,550)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - (49,658,231) (49,658,231) (328,873) (49,987,104)

Dividend - (5,486,263) - (5,486,263) - (5,486,263)

At 31 December 2008 1,155,100 107,741,068 (49,824,259) 59,071,909 417,605 59,489,514

Share buy back 
(Tender offer) (728,797) (67,977,957) 31,436,028 (37,270,726) - (37,270,726)

Total comprehensive 
income for the year - - 10,021,265 10,021,265 179,347 10,200,612

Non-controlling 
interest buy back - - - - (397,933) (397,933)

Dividend - (443,355) - (443,355) - (443,355)

At 31 December 2009 426,303 39,319,756 (8,366,966) 31,379,093 199,019 31,578,112

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 31 December 2009
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Notes 2009 2008
USD USD

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 10,200,612 (49,987,104)
Adjustment to reconcile profit/(loss) for the financial year to 
net cash from operating activities:
Interest income (1,520,674) (6,150,183)
(Gains)/losses on financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (6,852,439) 53,856,788
Dividend income (1,407,439) (1,606,923)
Gain on disposal of held-to-maturity investment - (139,595)
Tender offer pool adjustment (3,485,296) -

Operating loss before working capital changes (3,065,236) (4,027,017)
Decrease in other receivables 83,612 1,258,942
Increase in other payables 413,679 83,445

Net cash used in operating activities (2,567,945) (2,684,630)

Interest received 2,016,423 6,185,937
Proceeds on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 2,183,758 -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7(a) (14,581,367) (76,022,331)
Disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7(a) 14,317,360 17,657,136
Disposal of held-to-maturity investment - 4,639,595
Dividend received 1,403,110 1,606,923

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 5,339,284 (45,932,740)

Cash flows from financing activities
Acquisition of non-controlling interest (397,933)
Redemption of shares - (6,357,550)
Dividend paid 17 (1,637,780) (4,181,000)

Net cash flow used in financing activities (2,035,713) (10,538,550)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,001,932 (59,155,920)
Cash and cash equivalent at the start of the year 2,671,416 61,827,336

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the year 3,673,348 2,671,416 

The notes on pages 30 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited (the “Company”) was launched and admitted to trading on the AIM market of
the London Stock Exchange in July 2007.

The Company is a closed-ended fund incorporated with limited liability and registered in Cayman Islands under
the Companies Law on 21 June 2007 with registered number MC-188243.

The Company aims to achieve capital growth and income through investment in value, arbitrage, and special
situations investments in the continent of Africa. The Company therefore may invest in securities issued by
companies domiciled outside Africa which conduct significant business activities within Africa. The Company will
have the ability to invest in a wide range of asset classes including real estate interests, equity, quasi-equity or debt
instruments and debt issued by African sovereign states and government entities.

The Company’s investment activities are managed by Africa Opportunity Partners Limited, a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and acting as the investment manager pursuant to an Investment
Management Agreement dated 18 July 2007.

To ensure that investments to be made by the Company, and the returns generated on the realisation of
investments, are both effected in the most tax efficient manner, the Company has established Africa Opportunity
Fund L.P. as an exempted limited partnership in the Cayman Islands. All investments made by the Company will
be made through the limited partnership. The limited partners of the limited partnership are the Company and
AOF CarryCo Limited. Millennium Special Opportunities Holdings Ltd, a limited partner during 2009, had their
non-controlling interest purchased by the Company effective 31 December 2009. The general partner of the
limited partnership is Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited.

Presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (“USD”).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied from the prior year to the current year for items which are
considered material in relation to the consolidated financial statements.

Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the fair valuation of
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the Board of Directors to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(referred to as the “Group”) as at 31 December 2009.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control
and continued to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using
consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are
presented separately in the Statement of comprehensive income and within equity in the Statement of Changes in
Equity and the statement of financial position from parent shareholders’ equity.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in USD which is the Group’s functional
currency. That is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The functional currency of the entities within the
Group is USD. The Group chose USD as the presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the functional currency rate prevailing at the date
of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency spot rate of the exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to profit
or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Financial instruments

(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities into the categories above in accordance with
IAS 39.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The category of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the profit or loss is sub-divided into:

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading: All derivatives and liabilities from short sales of financial instruments
are classified as held-for-trading.
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Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition: These include equity
securities and debt instruments that are not held-for-trading. These financial assets are designated on the basis that
they are part of a group of financial assets which are managed and have their performance evaluated on a fair value
basis, in accordance with risk management and investment strategies of the Group, as set out in the Group’s offering
document. The financial information about these financial assets is provided internally on that basis to the
Investment Manager and to the Board of Directors. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market.

Other financial liabilities

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss. The
Group includes in this category amounts relating to other short-term payables.

(ii) Recognition

The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability when, and only when, it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

(iii) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised where:

• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and

• Either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset (or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement), and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement in the asset.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled
or expires.
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(iv) Initial measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the Statement
of financial position at fair value. All transaction costs for such instruments are recognised directly in profit
or loss.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments are treated as separate derivatives and recorded at fair
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract, and the
host contract is not itself classified as held-for-trading or designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Embedded derivatives separated from the host are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables and financial liabilities (other than those classified as at fair value through profit or
loss) and are measured initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of
acquisition or issue.

(v) Subsequent measurement

After initial measurement, the Group measures financial instruments which are classified as at fair value
through profit or loss at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those financial instruments are
recorded in ‘Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss’. Interest
earned and dividend revenue elements of such instruments are recorded separately in ‘Interest revenue’ and
‘Dividend revenue’, respectively. 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance for
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments but does not consider future credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Determination of fair value

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their quoted price
or binding dealer price quotations, without any deduction for transaction costs.
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For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate
valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include: using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the
current market value of another instrument that is substantially the same; discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models making as much use of available and supportable market data as possible. 

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets classified as loans
and receivables is impaired. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions
that correlate with defaults. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted using the asset’s
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account
and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss as ‘Credit loss expense’.

Impaired debts together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance
account. If a previous write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the ‘Credit loss expense’.

Interest revenue on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

Due to and due from brokers

Amounts due to brokers are payables for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have been
contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to the accounting policy for ‘financial liabilities,
other than those classified as at fair value through profit or loss’ for recognition and measurement.

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts and receivables for securities sold (in a regular way transaction)
that have been contracted for but not yet delivered on the reporting date. Refer to accounting policy for ‘loans and
receivables’ for recognition and measurement.

Margin accounts represent cash deposits held with brokers as collateral against open futures contracts.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distributions are at the discretion of the Company. A dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is accounted for as a deduction from retained earnings. A proposed dividend is recognised as a liability
in the period in which it is approved by the annual general meeting of shareholders.

Interest revenue and expense

Interest revenue and expense are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for all interest-bearing
financial instruments using the effective interest method.
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Dividend revenue and expense

Dividend revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. Dividend revenue is
presented gross of any non-recoverable withholding taxes, which are disclosed separately in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. 

Net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This item includes changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading or designated
upon initial recognition as ‘held at fair value through profit or loss’ and excludes interest and dividend income
and expenses.

Unrealised gains and losses comprise changes in the fair value of financial instruments for the period and from
reversal of prior period’s unrealised gains and losses for financial instruments which were realised in the
reporting period.

Realised gains and losses on disposals of financial instruments classified as ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ are
calculated using the Average Cost (AVCO) method. They represent the difference between an instrument’s initial
carrying amount and disposal amount, or cash payments or receipts made on derivative contracts (excluding
payments or receipts on collateral margin accounts for such instruments).

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Provision

A provision is recognised when and only when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow embodying economic benefits will be required to settle that obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Related parties 

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if they have the
ability, directly or indirectly, to control the Group or exercise significant influence over the Group in making
financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group is subject to common control or common
significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 
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3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations as of 1 January 2009:

• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesting Conditions and Cancellations effective 1 January 2009
• IFRS 2 Share-based Payment: Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions effective 1 January 2010 
• IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)

effective 1 July 2009 including consequential amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 21, IAS 28, IAS 31 and IAS 39
• IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures effective 1 January 2009
• IFRS 8 Operating Segments effective 1 January 2009
• IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements effective 1 January 2009
• IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Revised) effective 1 January 2009
• IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations

Arising on Liquidation effective 1 January 2009
• IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items effective 1 July 2009

(early adopted)
• IFRIC 9 Remeasurement of Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement effective for periods ending on or after 30 June 2009
• IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes effective 1 July 2008
• IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation effective 1 October 2008
• IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers effective 1 July 2009 (early adopted)
• Improvements to IFRSs (May 2008)
• Improvements to IFRSs (April 2009)

When the adoption of the standard or interpretation is deemed to have an impact on the financial statements or
performance of the Group, its impact is described below:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (Revised)

The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 which clarifies the definition of vesting conditions and prescribes the
treatment for an award that is cancelled. The Group adopted this amendment as of 1 January 2009. It did not have
an impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

The IASB issued an amendment to IFRS 2 that clarified the scope and the accounting for group cash-settled share-
based payment transactions. The Group adopted this amendment as of 1 January 2009. It did not have an impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Revised) and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (Amended)

The Group adopted the revised from 1 January 2009. IFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the
accounting for business combinations occurring after this date. Changes affect the valuation of non-controlling
interest, the accounting for transaction costs, the initial recognition and subsequent measurement of a contingent
consideration and business combinations achieved in stages. It did not have an impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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IAS 27 (Amended) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is
accounted for as a transaction with owners in their capacity as owners. Therefore, such transactions will no longer
give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. The changes by IFRS
3 (Revised) and IAS 27 (Amended) will affect future acquisitions or loss of control of subsidiaries and transactions
with non-controlling interests. The change in accounting policy was applied prospectively and had no material
impact on earnings per share.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

The amended standard requires additional disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity risk. Fair value
measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by source of inputs using a three level fair
value hierarchy, by class, for all financial instruments recognised at fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between
the beginning and ending balance for level 3 fair value measurements is now required, as well as significant transfers
between levels in the fair value hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures
with respect to derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The fair value measurement
disclosures are presented in Note 7(d). The liquidity risk disclosures are not significantly impacted by the
amendments and are presented in Note 16.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments

IFRS 8 replaced IAS 14 Segment Reporting upon its effective date. The Group concluded that the operating
segments determined in accordance with IFRS 8 are the same as the business segments previously identified under
IAS 14.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes in equity includes
only details of transactions with owners, with non-owner changes in equity presented in a reconciliation of each
component of equity. In addition, the standard introduces the statement of comprehensive income: it presents all
items of recognised income and expense, either in one single statement, or in two linked statements. The Group
has elected to present in one single statement.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The revised IAS 23 requires capitalisation of borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset. The Group’s previous policy was to expense borrowing costs as
they were incurred. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the amended IAS 23, the Group has
adopted the standard on a prospective basis. It did not have an impact on the financial position or performance
of the Group.

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1 Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising
on Liquidation

The standards have been amended to allow a limited scope exception for puttable financial instruments to be
classified as equity if they fulfil a number of specified criteria. The adoption of these amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position or the performance of the Group.
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IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items

The amendment clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item. This also covers the designation of inflation as a hedged risk
or portion in particular situations. The Group has concluded that the amendment will have no impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group, as the Group has not entered into any such hedges.

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

This amendment to IFRIC 9 requires an entity to assess whether an embedded derivative must be separated from
a host contract when the entity reclassifies a hybrid financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category. This assessment is to be made based on circumstances that existed on the later of the date the entity first
became a party to the contract and the date of any contract amendments that significantly change the cash flows
of the contract. IAS 39 now states that if an embedded derivative cannot be reliably measured, the entire hybrid
instrument must remain classified as at fair value through profit or loss.

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC 13 requires customer loyalty credits to be accounted for as a separate component of the sales transaction in
which they are granted. A portion of the fair value of the consideration received is allocated to the award credits
and deferred. This is then recognised as revenue over the period that the award credits are redeemed. 

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

The Interpretation is to be applied prospectively. IFRIC 16 provides guidance on the accounting for a hedge of a
net investment. As such it provides guidance on identifying the foreign currency risks that qualify for hedge
accounting in the hedge of a net investment, where within the group the hedging instruments can be held in the
hedge of a net investment and how an entity should determine the amount of foreign currency gain or loss, relating
to both the net investment and the hedging instrument, to be recycled on disposal of the net investment.

Improvements to IFRSs

In May 2008 and April 2009 the IASB issued omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to
removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. There are separate transitional provisions for each standard. The
adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the group.

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations: clarifies that the disclosures required in
respect of non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale or discontinued operations are only those
set out in IFRS 5. The disclosure requirements of other IFRSs only apply if specifically required for such non-
current assets or discontinued operations. 

IFRS 8 Operating Segment Information: clarifies that segment assets and liabilities need only be reported when
those assets and liabilities are included in measures that are used by the chief operating decision maker.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Assets and liabilities classified as held for trading in accordance with
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are not automatically classified as current in the
statement of financial position. The Group analysed whether the expected period of realisation of financial assets
and liabilities differed from the classification of the instrument. This did not result in any re-classification of
financial instruments between current and non-current in the statement of financial position.
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IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: Explicitly states that only expenditure that results in recognising an asset can be
classified as a cash flow from investing activities. This amendment will impact the presentation in the statement of
cash flows of the contingent consideration on the business combination completed in 2009 upon cash settlement.

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Replaces the term “net selling price” with “fair value less costs to sell”. The
Group amended its accounting policy accordingly, which did not result in any change in the financial position.

IAS 18 Revenue: The Board has added guidance (which accompanies the standard) to determine whether an entity
is acting as a principal or as an agent. The features to consider are whether the entity:

• Has primary responsibility for providing the goods or service
• Has inventory risk
• Has discretion in establishing prices
• Bears the credit risk

The Group has assessed its revenue arrangements against these criteria and concluded that it is acting as principal
in all arrangements. The revenue recognition accounting policy has been updated accordingly.

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosures of Government Assistance: Loans granted with no or
low interest will not be exempt from the requirement to impute interest. Interest is to be imputed on loans granted
with below-market interest rates. This amendment did not impact the Group as the Group did not receive any
government assistance during the year.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs: The definition of borrowing costs is revised to consolidate the two types of items that are
considered components of ‘borrowing costs’ into one – the interest expense calculated using the effective interest
rate method calculated in accordance with IAS 39. The Group has amended its accounting policy accordingly
which did not result in any change in its financial position.

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets: When discounted cash flows are used to estimate ‘fair value less cost to sell’ additional
disclosure is required about the discount rate, consistent with disclosures required when the discounted cash flows
are used to estimate ‘value in use’. This amendment had no immediate impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group because the recoverable amount of its cash generating units is currently estimated using
‘value in use’.

The amendment clarified that the largest unit permitted for allocating goodwill, acquired in a business
combination, is the operating segment as defined in IFRS 8 before aggregation for reporting purposes. The
amendment has no impact on the Group.

IAS 38 Intangible Assets: Expenditure on advertising and promotional activities is recognised as an expense when
the Group either has the right to access the goods or has received the service. This amendment has no impact on
the Group because it does not enter into such promotional activities.

The reference to there being rarely, if ever, persuasive evidence to support an amortisation method of intangible
assets other than a straight-line method has been removed. 
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Other amendments resulting from Improvements to IFRSs to the following standards did not have any impact on
the accounting policies, financial position or performance of the Group:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Change in Accounting Estimates and Error
IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period
IAS 19 Employee Benefits
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IAS 28 Investments in Associates
IAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting
IAS 38 Intangible Assets
IAS 40 Investment Properties
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
IFRIC 16 Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or
liability affected in future periods.

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the directors have made
the following judgements that have the most effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

(i) Going concern

The Group’s management has made an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.

Furthermore, the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be
prepared on the going concern basis.

(ii) Determination of functional currency 

The determination of the functional currency of the Group is critical since recording of transactions and
exchange differences arising thereon are dependent on the functional currency selected. The primary
objective of the Group is to generate returns in USD, its capital raising currency. The Group’s performance
is evaluated in USD, the directors have considered those factors and have determined that the functional
currency of the Group is USD.
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(iii) Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Statement of Financial Position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models, discounted cash flow models and market comparables. The inputs
to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgment is required in establishing fair values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model
inputs such as credit risk (both own and counterparty’s), correlation and volatility. Changes in assumptions
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

(iv) Impairment of financial assets 

The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 to determine when held-to-maturity financial assets and
receivables are impaired. 

5. AGREEMENTS 

Investment Management Agreement 

Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Company appointed Africa Opportunity Partners Limited (the
“Investment Manager”), an investment management company incorporated in the Cayman Islands, to manage the
operations of the Company subject to the overall supervision of the Company’s board as specified in the AIM
admission document of the Company.

Under the Investment Management Agreement, the Manager is paid a management fee which is equal to one
quarter of 2 percent of the quarterly NAV which is payable in US Dollars quarterly in advance on the first Business
Day of each Quarter. 

The management fee for the financial year under review amounts to USD 540,759 (2008: USD 2,010,654).

Administrative Agreement 

“International Proximity” had been appointed to provide various administrative services to the Company and
received an aggregate fee of USD 17,426 payable by the Company for administrative and certain secretarial services
for the Group. 

Custodian Agreement 

A Custodian Agreement had been entered into by the Company and Barclays Bank PLC (Mauritius), whereby
Barclays Bank PLC would provide custodian services to the Fund and would be entitled to a custody fee of between
25-18 basis points per annum of the value of the assets held by the customer and a tariff of between 10 and 45 basis
points per annum of the value of assets held by the custodian. 
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Broker agreement

Under the Broker Agreement, the Fund appointed LCF Edmond Rothschild Securities Limited (“LCFR”), a
company incorporated in England and Wales to act as Broker to the Fund. 

Under the Broker Agreement, the Fund paid to LCFR a fee of USD 23,204 (2008: USD 28,958) for the financial
year under review. The broker is payable in advance at six monthly intervals. 

Nominated Advisor 

Under the engagement letter, Grant Thornton UK LLP is engaged to act as Nominated Advisor to the Fund. 

A retainer fee amounting to USD 32,781 (2008: USD 36,197) was paid to the Nominated Advisor for the financial
year ended 31 December 2009. The retainer fee is payable quarterly in advance.

6. INTEREST REVENUE
2009 2008

USD USD
Bank interest - 747,593
Interest on debentures 10 335,083
Other interest income 2,140 -
Interest on bonds 1,518,524 5,067,507

Total interest income 1,520,674 6,150,183

7(a). FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2009 2008

USD USD
Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
At 1 January 57,140,459 52,632,051
Additions 14,581,367 76,022,332
Disposals (14,317,360) (17,657,136)
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7,173,924 (53,856,788)
Transfer to tender offer pool (33,785,430) -

At 31 December (at fair value) 30,792,960 57,140,459
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2009 2008

USD USD
Analysed as follows:
- Listed equity securities4 14,333,949 31,698,660
- Listed debt securities 15,673,728 22,167,517
- Unlisted equity securities 225,224 -
- Unlisted debt securities 560,059 3,274,282

30,792,960 57,140,459

7(b). FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
2009 2008

USD USD
- Written call option 2,716,650 -
- Written put option 54,750 -

Financial liabilities held for trading 2,771,400 -

2009 2008

USD USD
Net changes on fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss
Realised 266,156 -
Unrealised (587,641) -

Total gains/(losses) (321,485) -

7(c). NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

2009 2008

USD USD
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7,173,924 (53,856,788)
Net gain/(loss) on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (321,485) -

Net gain/(loss) 6,852,439 (53,856,788)

4 including securities lent and securities pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements
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7(d). FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

As at 31 December 2009, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technique:

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based
on observable market data.

Assets measured at fair value

31 December
2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

USD USD USD USD
Financial assets of fair value through
profit or loss
- Equity 14,559,173 14,333,949 - 225,224
- Debt securities 16,233,787 15,673,728 - 560,059
Liabilities measured at fair value
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 2,771,400 2,771,400 - -

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES
2009 2008

USD USD
Interest receivable on bonds5 714,736 1,210,635
Dividend receivable 4,329 -
Due from broker - 83,612

719,065 1,294,247

5 Interest receivable on bonds are due within six months.
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9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2009 2008

USD USD
Account with Newedge 470,458 -
Other bank accounts 408,044 -
Call deposit accounts 2,794,846 2,671,415

3,673,348 2,671,415

10. SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2009 2008 2008

Number USD Number USD

Authorised share capital

Ordinary shares with a par 
value of USD 0.01 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000,000 10,000,000

2009 2009 2008 2008

Number USD Number USD

Share capital

Opening balance 115,510,000 1,115,100 125,000,000 1,250,000

Share buy back – (Tender Offer) (72,879,673) (728,797) - -

Share buy back - (9,490,000) (94,900)

42,630,327 426,303 115,510,000 1,155,100

The directors have the general authority to repurchase the ordinary shares in issue subject to the Company having
funds lawfully available for the purpose.  However, if the market price of the ordinary shares falls to a discount to
the Net Asset Value, the directors will consult with the Investment Manger as to whether it is appropriate to
instigate a repurchase of the ordinary shares.

11. OTHER PAYABLES
2009 2008

USD USD
Dividend payable 110,838 1,305,263
Accrued expenses 223,047 311,344
Due to Millennium Special Opportunities Holdings Ltd. 389,917 -
Other payables 112,059 -

835,861 1,616,607
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The payable to Millennium Special Opportunities Holdings Ltd represents the Group’s purchase of the entity’s
non-controlling interest. Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an average term of three months.

12. OTHER INCOME

This income primarily represents a fee equal to 5% of the amounts realized from the Tender Offer Pool (see note
18) to compensate the existing (“continuing”) shareholders for the higher proportion of fixed costs that would bear
following the decision of some of the investors to exit.

13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basis earnings/loss per share is calculated by dividing the gain or loss attributable to equity holders of the Group by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period excluding ordinary shares purchased by
the Group and held as treasury shares.

The Group’s diluted earnings or loss per share is the same as basic earnings or loss per share, since the Group has
not issued any instruments with dilutive potential.

2009 2008

Gain/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Group USD 10,021,265 (49,658,231)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 42,630,037 122,431,041
Basic earnings/(loss) per share US cents 23.51 (40.56)

14. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The financial statements include the financial statements of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited and the subsidiaries
in the following table:

Country of % equity interest % equity interest
Name incorporation 2009 2008
Africa Opportunity Fund (GP) Limited Cayman Islands 100 100
Africa Opportunity Fund L.P. Cayman Islands 98.84 98.37

During the period ended 31 December 2009, the Company transacted with related entities. The nature, volume
and type of transactions with the entities are as follows:

2009
Balance at 

Type of Nature of Volume 31 Dec 2009
Name of related parties relationship transaction USD USD
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited Investment Management 540,749 -

Manager fee expense
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During the period ended 31 December 2008, the Company transacted with related entities. The nature, volume
and type of transactions with the entities are as follows:

2008
Balance at 

Type of Nature of Volume 31 Dec 2008
Name of related parties relationship transaction USD USD
Africa Opportunity Partners Limited Investment Management 2,010,654 2,010,654

Manager fee expense

Key Management Personnel (Directors’ fee)

Except for Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp, who have waived their fees, each director has been paid a fee of
USD 30,000 per annum plus reimbursement for out-of pocket expenses.

Francis Daniels and Robert Knapp, who are directors/shareholders of the Company, are also shareholders of the
Investment Manager and form part of the executive team of the Investment Manager. Details of the agreement with
the Investment Manager are disclosed in Note 5. They have a beneficiary interest in AOF CarryCo Limited. The
latter is entitled to carry interest computed in accordance with the rules set out in the Admission Document. The
total carried interest is 20%.

Details of investments in the Company by the directors are set out below:

Direct
No. of shares Interest held

held %

2009 10,775,827 25.28%
2008 10,775,827 25.28%

15. TAXATION

Under the current laws of Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, transfer sales or other Cayman Islands taxes
payable by the Fund. As a result, no provision for income taxes has been made in the financial statements.

16. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

Introduction

The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the
Group’s activities. It is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject
to risks limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability.
The Group is exposed to market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk arising from the financial instruments it holds.
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Risk management structure

The Group’s Investment Manager is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. The Board of Directors
supervises the Investment Manager and is ultimately responsible for the overall risk management approach of
the Group.

Risk mitigation

The group has investment guidelines that set out its overall business strategies, its tolerance for risk and its general
risk management philosophy. At the time of investment, no single investment may exceed 15% of the Net Asset
Value, without the prior approval of the Board.

No single initial investment will exceed 20% of the Net Asset Value at time of investment.

The group may utilise derivative instruments to hedge certain market or currency risks and may from time to time
engage in short sale of securities.

Fair value

The carrying amount of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, other receivables,
other payables and accrued expenses approximate their fair value due to their short term nature.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices and includes interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk. The Group’s
financial assets are susceptible to market risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of the instruments. Since
all securities investments present a risk of loss of capital, the Investment Manager moderates this risk through a
careful selection of securities and other financial instruments. The Group’s overall market positions are monitored
on a daily basis by the Investment Manager.

In determining the change in equity prices, currency rate and interest rate, directors have based themselves on past
performance, current and future economic conditions.
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Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in the levels of the equity
indices and the values of individual stocks. The equity risk arises from the Group’s investment portfolio.

Change in Effect on
equity profit before Effect on
price tax equity

Stock 2009 USD USD
African Bank Investments Ltd. 30% 896,117 896,117

-30% -896,117 -896,117

Copperbelt Energy 30% 131,067 131,067
-30% -131,067 -131,067

Emerging Metals Ltd 30% 67,031 67,031
-30% -67,031 -67,031

Gold Fields Ltd 30% 450,450 450,450
-30% -450,450 -450,450

Letshego 30% 34,898 34,898
-30% -34,898 -34,898

Polo Resources Ltd 30% 287,102 287,102
-30% -287,102 -287,102

Press Corp Ltd 30% 246,750 246,750
-30% -246,750 -246,750

SAPH 30% 208,295 208,295
-30% -208,295 -208,295

Shoprite PLC 30% 257,303 257,303
-30% -257,303 -257,303

Sonatel 30% 1,259,862 1,259,862
-30% -1,259,862 -1,259,862

SPDR S&P Metals & Mining ETF 30% -95,328 -95,328
-30% 95,328 95,328

Tullow Oil PLC 30% -695,382 -695,382
-30% 695,382 695,382

Unilever 30% 226,256 226,256
-30% -226,256 -226,256

Zimplats Holdings 30% 141,423 141,423
-30% -141,423 -141,423

Cumulative result 30% 3,415,844 3,415,844
-30% -3,415,844 -3,415,844
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Currency risk

The Group’s investments are denominated in various currencies as shown in the currency profile below.
Consequently, the Group is exposed to the risk that the exchange rate of the United States Dollar (USD) relative
to these various currencies may change in a manner, which has a material effect on the reported values of its assets
denominated in those currencies.

The currency profile of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:
2009 2008

Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets Liabilities assets Liabilities

USD USD USD USD
Canadian Dollar 372,312 - 7,855,461 -
Norwegian Kroner - - 1,520,049 -
Tanzanian Shilling - - 5,085,397 -
CFA Franc 5,648,042 - 13,842,200 -
Euro 3,317,675 - 5,354,150 -
Great Britain Pound 3,269,855 453,460 - 11,796
United States Dollar 17,708,128 3,153,801 16,931,745 1,604,811
South African Rand 2,987,056 - 6,922,120 -
Zambian Kwacha 1,294,567 - 3,428,281 -
Australian Dollar 471,410 - 166,718 -
Botswana Pula 116,328 - - -

35,185,373 3,607,261 61,106,121 1,616,607
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The sensitivity analysis show how the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates against the US Dollar, the functional currency of the Group.

Effect on
Change in profit before Effect on
currency tax equity

Currency 2009 USD USD
South African Rand 30% 896,117 896,117

-30% -896,117 -896,117

Botswana Pula 30% 34,898 34,898
-30% -34,898 -34,898

Zambian Kwachi 30% 388,370 388,370
-30% -388,370 -388,370

West African Franc 10% 564,804 564,804
-10% -564,804 -564,804

Canadian Dollar 5% 28,530 28,530
-5% -28,530 -28,530

Euro 5% 156,718 156,718
-5% -156,718 -156,718

Great British Pound 5% 40,301 40,301
-5% -40,301 -40,301

Norwegian Kroner 5% 28,473 28,473
-5% -28,473 -28,473

Australian Dollar 5% 23,571 23,571
-5% -23,571 -23,571

Cumulative results As indicated 
above 2,161,782 2,161,782

As indicated 
above -2,161,782 -2,161,782
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Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair values
of financial instruments. The fair values of the Group’s debt securities fluctuate in response to changes in market
interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally translate into decreases and increases in
fair values of those instruments.

The following table summarises the estimated effects of hypothetical increases and decreases in interest rates on
assets and liabilities that are subject to interest rate risk. It is assumed that changes occur immediately and uniformly
to each category of instrument containing interest rate risk. The hypothetical changes in market interest rates do
not reflect what could be deemed best or worst case scenarios. Therefore, actual rates might differ from those
reflected in the table.

Effect on
Change in profit before Effect on

interest tax equity
Financial assets rate USD USD
Ivory Coast Sphynx 10% 28/01/11 +100 bps -12,826 -12,826

-100 bps 12,616 12,616

Old Mutual 5% 11/29/49 +100 bps -280,656 -280,656
-100 bps 369,014 369,014

Old Mutual 6.376% 03/29/49 +100 bps -248,173 -248,173
-100 bps 314,607 314,607

Marine Subsea Cypros Ltd 9% 09/19 +100 bps -201,764 -201,764
(formerly AFROFF 6/29/12) -100 bps 104,767 104,767

Marine Subsea Cypros Ltd 9% 09/19 +100 bps -78,429 -78,429
(formerly AFROFF 2/15/12) -100 bps 84,712 84,712

Marine Subsea Cypros Ltd 9% 09/19 +100 bps -35,017 -35,017
(formerly Marine subsea NOK 7.5% Conv 09/16/12) -100 bps 37,822 37,822

Katanga Mining 11/30/13 +100 bps -10,079 -10,079
-100 bps 10,240 10,240

PA Resources 10% 6/20/11 +100 bps -30,273 -30,273
-100 bps 30,518 30,518

PA Resources Didon 4.12938% 03/13/12 +100 bps -47,712 -47,712
-100 bps 48,738 48,738

DiamondcorpBonds 10/17/2011 +100 bps -6,691 -6,691
-100 bps 6,288 6,288

Cumulative results +100% -951,620 -951,620
-100% 1,019,322 1,019,322
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Credit Risk

Financial assets that potentially expose the Group to credit risk consist principally of investments in debt securities,
cash balances and interest receivable. The extent of the Group’s exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
assets approximates their carrying values as recorded in the statement of financial position.

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due. The Group’s main credit risk concentration is its debt securities classified under financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

With respect to credit risk arising from financial assets which comprise of held-to-maturity financial assets, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arises from the default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of
these financial assets.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit
risk at the reporting date was:

Carrying Carrying
amount amount

31 December 31 December
Note 2009 2008

USD USD
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 7 16,233,787 25,441,799
Other receivables 8 719,065 1,294,247
Cash and cash equivalents 9 3,673,348 2,671,415

The financial assets are neither past due nor impaired at reporting date. The cash and cash equivalent assets of the
Group are maintained with Barclays Bank PLC, Mauritius Branch. Barclays Bank has an Aa2 issuer rating from
Moody’s rating agency, P1 short term rating from Moody’s rating agency, an AA- issuer rating from Standard and
Poor’s rating agency, and a A-1+ short term rating from Standard and Poor’s rating agency. Except for the African
Development Bank, which has a AAA rating from Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s rating agencies, all other issuers
of debt instrument owned by the Group are unrated. The issuers of the unrated debt instruments owned by the
Group are reputable companies which do not envisage obtaining ratings, and have the ability to repay any debt or
redeem any security as it falls due or when required.
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Concentration risk

At 31 December 2009, the Group held investments in Africa which involve certain considerations and risks not
typically associated with investments in other developed countries. Future economic and political developments in
Africa could affect the operations of the investee companies.

Analysed by geographical distribution of underlying assets:

Bonds and notes Bonds and notes
2009 2008

USD USD
South Africa 4,362,523 3,274,287
Angola 3,422,360 4,422,459
Tunisia 2,314,000 -
Congo, Republic of 2,274,125 3,495,316
Nigeria 2,240,000 2,262,100
Ivory Coast 1,275,396 5,022,260
Congo, Democratic Republic of 345,380 -
Tanzania - 4,982,843
Zambia - 1,982,534

Total 16,233,784 25,441,799

Equity Equity
Securities Securities

2009 2008

USD USD
South Africa 4,480,809 11,887,120
Senegal 4,199,539 10,724,356
Ivory Coast 1,448,502 3,117,844
Zambia 1,294,567 1,199,054
Namibia 1,180,446 -
Malawi 822,500 -
Zimbabwe 471,411 166,719
Nigeria 661,402 3,169,008
Congo, Republic of - 1,123,937
Tanzania - 310,622

Total 14,559,176 31,698,660
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Bonds and notes Bonds and notes
2009 2008

USD USD
Analysed by industry:
Oil services industry 5,662,360 6,684,559
Oil exploration and production 4,588,123 -
Financial services 3,802,467 -
Sovereign debt 1,275,396 5,022,265
Mining industry 905,438 6,769,603
Supranational development institution - 6,965,377

Total 16,233,784 25,441,799

Equity Equity
Securities Securities

2009 2008

USD USD
Analysed by industry:
Telecommunications 4,199,539 12,086,714
Consumer finance 3,103,386 5,559,762
Mining industry 3,153,358 6,255,656
Consumer products and services 2,434,363 375,370
Plantations 694,317 2,742,474
Electricity transmission and generation 436,889 1,199,054
Forestry 225,224 -
Oil services industry 312,100 3,479,630

Total 14,559,176 31,698,660

2009 2008

USD USD
Reconciliation with statement of financial position
Investments held in Africa 30,792,960 57,140,464
Bank deposit in Mauritius - 2,671,415
Other financial assets in non African countries - 1,294,242

Total 30,792,960 61,106,121
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of the financial assets and liabilities. The table below illustrates
the aged analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities.

Year 2009

Due
Due between

Due on within 3 and
demand 3 months 12 months Total

USD USD USD USD

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent 3,673,348 - - 3,673,348
Other receivables - - 719,065 719,065
Financial Asset at fair value through 
profit or loss - - 30,792,960 30,792,960

Total assets 3,673,348 - 31,512,025 35,185,373

Financial liabilities

Other payables 835,861 - - 835,861
Financial Liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss - - 2,771,400 2,771,400

Total Liabilities 835,861 - 2,771,400 3,607,261
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Year 2008

Due
Due Between

Due on within 3 and
demand 3 months 12 months Total

USD USD USD USD

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalent 2,671,415 - - 2,671,415
Other receivables - - 1,294,247 1,294,247
Financial Asset at fair value through profit or loss - - 57,140,459 57,140,459

Total Liabilities 2,671,415 - 58,434,706 61,106,121

Financial liabilities

Accrued expenses 1,616,607 - - 1,616,607

Total Liabilities 1,616,607 - - 1,616,607

Capital Management

Total capital is treated as ‘equity’ as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group is a closed-end fund and repurchase of shares in issue can be done with the consent of the Board of
Directors. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The objectives for managing capital are:

• To invest the capital in investments meeting the description, risk exposure and expected return indicated in
the Admission document.

• To achieve consistent capital growth and income through investment in value, arbitrate and special situations
opportunities derived from the African continent.

• To maintain sufficient size to make the operation of the Group cost-effective.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
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17. DIVIDEND PAYMENT

The Company expressed in the Admission Document for the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock
Exchange on which it was listed an intention, subject to having sufficient cash resources, to pay an aggregate annual
dividend of an amount equal to the product of the net asset value of the Company on January 01 in each year
multiplied by the three month US Dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (derived from Bloomberg) on the same
date, payable in four equal quarterly instalments. Accordingly such dividend payments were made during the
financial year 2009.

Dividend Dividend per share
2009 2009

USD USD
Dividend declared and paid in 2009 332,517
Dividend declared not yet paid 110,838

443,355 0.01

18. SHARES BUY BACK – TENDER OFFER

In the wake of the financial crisis in 2008, the Company had been notified by some of its largest Shareholders that
difficult market conditions required that they realise investments, including their investments in the Company.
Furthermore, the size of some of the shareholdings concerned and the current discount to Net Asset Value per
Ordinary Share at which the Ordinary Shares trade meant that the market mechanism did not provide an attractive
option in terms of realising an investment for those Shareholders.

Accordingly, after discussions with the major Shareholders, the Company and the Investment Manager determined
to implement a Tender Offer to allow Shareholders an opportunity to realise their investment in the Company.

The Company announced a Tender Offer in early February 2009 which closed on the 26th of February 2009.
Shareholders were given the option to submit 100% of their holdings for redemption. 37% of holders chose to
remain invested.

The mechanics of the redemption was as follows:

The price that will be paid to Shareholders who decided to tender Ordinary Shares will be linked to the net amount
actually realised from a pro rata share of the Company’s investment portfolio. This sum may be different from the
Company’s announced Net Asset Value per Ordinary Share.

The Company’s assets and liabilities were divided into a Tender Offer Pool or Liquidating Pool for exiting
shareholders and a Continuing Pool for continuing shareholders on 27 February 2009, the calculation date. 

Following the calculation date, exiting shareholders ceased to have any rights as shareholders and became unsecured
creditors until the payment of the Tender Consideration has been completed.

The assets and liabilities which have been sent to the Liquidating Pool have been derecognised as they meet the
criteria set out in IAS 39 for derecognition.

For those investors that tendered their shares to the Company, a distribution of US$0.3705 was made on 30 June 2009.
As at 31 December 2009, the NAV per share of the liquidating pool is estimated to be approximately US$0.07.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)
for the year ended 31 December 2009 

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised in one main operating segment, which invests in equity
securities, debt instruments and related derivatives. All of the Group’s activities are interrelated, and each activity
is dependent on the others. Accordingly, all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the Group
as one segment. The financial results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the Group as
a whole.

20. PERSONNEL

The Group did not employ any personnel during the year (2008: the same).

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

There are no commitments or contingencies at the reporting date (2008: nil).

22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There were no material events after the reporting period which require disclosures or amendments to the
31 December 2009 financial statements.
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Share Price

Prices of Africa Opportunity Fund Limited are published daily in the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange.
The shares trade under Reuters symbol “AOF.L” and Bloomberg symbol “AOF LN”.

Manager

Africa Opportunity Partners Limited

Company Information

Africa Opportunity Fund Limited is a Cayman Islands incorporated closed-end investment company admitted to trading
on the AIM market operated by the London Stock Exchange and listed on the Channel Islands Stock Exchange.

Capital Structure

The Company has an authorized share capital of 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.01 each of which 42,630,327
are issued and fully paid.

Life of the Company

The Company does not have a fixed life, but the directors consider it desirable that its shareholders should have the
opportunity to review the future of the Company at appropriate intervals. The Directors will convene a general meeting
in 2014 where a resolution will be proposed that the Company will continue in existence. If the resolution is not passed,
the Directors will be required to formulate proposals to be put to shareholders to reorganize, reconstruct or wind up the
Company. If the resolution is passed, the Company will continue its operations and a similar resolution will be put to
shareholders every five years thereafter.

Registered Number

Registered in the Cayman Islands number MC-188243

Website

www.africaopportunityfund.com



c/o  International Proximity 

608 St James Court, St Denis Street, Port Louis, Mauritius

+230 210 9000
www.africaopportunityfund.com
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